Submission to the Productivity Commission Inquiry into Paid Maternity, Paternity, and Parental Leave

30 May 2008

Jessica Brown
Policy Analyst
The Centre for Independent Studies (CIS)

PO Box 92, St Leonards, NSW 1590 Level 4, 38 Oxley St, St Leonards, NSW 2065 Phone: +61 2 9438 4377 Email: jbrown@cis.org.au



Contents

Executive summary	3
Submission to the Productivity Commission Inquiry into P	aid
Maternity, Paternity, and Parental Leave	5
CIS work on family policy	5
Current inquiry into paid maternity leave	7
Universality and means testing of family benefits	
Neutrality between working and non-working mothers	8
International comparisons	8
Employer contributions	9
Cost to taxpayers	
Alternative funding arrangements for longer periods of	
parental leave	10
Savings	11
Insurance	12
Loans	
Summary of recommendations	16
The Centre for Independent Studies (CIS)	22

Executive summary

- This is the Centre for Independent Studies' (CIS) submission to the Productivity Commission inquiry into paid maternity, paternity, and parental leave.
- The CIS is Australasia's leading public policy think tank. CIS has published a significant body of work on family policy.
- The key objectives for family policy should be the health and welfare of the child, parental choice (especially about how to balance work and family), horizontal equity between families with children and those without, and benefit and concession neutrality between parents in paid work and those at home.
- The community should help parents meet the cost of raising children by allowing them to pay less tax than childless people.
 This system is more efficient than cash payments, and allows people more freedom to spend their own money as they wish.
- Many submissions call for taxpayer-funded maternity leave. If such a scheme is considered, certain equitable requirements would need to be met, certain difficulties confronted, and some options considered. They include the following:
 - It must be neutral between working and non-working mothers, and its receipt should not be tied to work requirements.
 - Most countries with generous periods of paid maternity and parental leave have social insurance systems; they are not funded out of general revenue.
 - Compulsory employer contributions or a levy on employers should be ruled out.
 - Demand for more generous leave will increase once the principle is enshrined in law. Consideration should be

given to how longer periods of paid parental leave will be funded without the size of the taxpayer-funded scheme growing.

- Self-funded schemes are appropriate for longer periods of paid parental leave. Australians are already used to self-funding much of their welfare through HECS, private health insurance and superannuation
 - Superannuation-style savings accounts are in use around the world, and could be used to fund parental leave. Contributions can be tax-privileged to encourage saving and low-income individuals could even be eligible for other incentives. Contributions could be pooled between partners.
 - Insurance schemes fund paid maternity leave in several US states. In Australia, the 'WorkCover' model could be amended to provide for such a scheme
 - HECS-style income-contingent loans are equitable because individuals can opt in or opt out. Because repayment is contingent on future earnings, they are available to low-income families. Repayments could be shared between partners.

Submission to the Productivity Commission Inquiry into Paid Maternity, Paternity, and Parental Leave

Jessica Brown Policy Analyst CIS

CIS work on family policy

The Centre for Independent Studies (CIS) has published a significant body of work on family policy. Lucy Sullivan argued in 2001 that the system of supports for families with dependent children had been eroded over the previous generation. She noted an increasing horizontal inequity; as tax breaks for families were reduced, the financial position of parents with dependent children became significantly diminished compared to their childless peers.¹

In 2002, the CIS' Barry Maley published *Families, Fertility and Maternity Leave*, which explored some of the specific policy objectives being put forward in favour of paid maternity leave. Maley argued against using family policy as a tool for 'social engineering,'ii designed to either increase fertility, reduce wage inequality between men and women, or increase women's workforce participation.

Maley argued that government-funded paid maternity leave should not be viewed as a work entitlement: the right to return to the same job is already covered by existing unpaid leave legislation. If individual employers see that there is a benefit in providing paid maternity leave to employees, they will do so voluntarily.

Making paid maternity leave a purely 'work'-related benefit excludes mothers who wish to take a longer period of time out of the workforce or are already out of the workforce (for example, due to having another child). A policy that benefits a select group of mothers reduces choice rather than enhancing it.

Instead, the real problem that paid maternity leave is trying to solve is the cost of having children. Maley proposes that the existing system of family benefits be replaced by a single, universal tax credit that recognises the cost of children. Barry Maley and Peter Saunders later argued in 2006 for the establishment of higher tax-free thresholds for families with children, in recognition of the cost of children. iv

CIS research has also looked at the importance of reducing the 'churn' in the current tax-transfer and family benefits systems. Reducing personal tax so people can provide more for themselves:

- is more efficient
- is simpler, and doesn't favour one group over another
- allows individuals greater choice about how to spend their money

Recognising that children are a 'public' as well as private good, the most effective and efficient way for society as a whole to contribute to the cost of children is by allowing parents of dependent children to pay less tax. An overhaul of the whole system of family benefits is required.

The key objectives for family policy should be:

- health and welfare of children
- parental choice (especially about how to balance work and family)
- horizontal equity between families with children and those without
- benefit and concession neutrality between parents, whether they are in work or at home

Paid maternity leave is positive if it increases the health and welfare of mothers and babies, increases mothers' choice about whether and when to recommence work, and promotes horizontal equity. Where possible, families should be compensated through the tax system, rather than through cash payments.

Current inquiry into paid maternity leave

Many submissions to this inquiry call for taxpayer funding (cash benefits to working mothers) or employer contributions, so it is possible that a taxpayer-funded maternity scheme will emerge. If such a scheme were to be introduced, certain equitable requirements would need to be met, certain difficulties confronted, and some options considered. The following subsections examine these options.

Universality and means testing of family benefits

Concurrent to the public debate about paid maternity leave has been an examination of the future of universal welfare payments in Australia. The Rudd government has signalled that it favours means testing these payments, and has already imposed income tests on the Baby Bonus and Family Tax Benefit B.vi

Means testing existing family benefits, and then introducing a universal (or near-universal) taxpayer-funded paid maternity leave scheme shows an inconsistency of both principles and policy.

The previous federal government introduced the Baby Bonus as a birth grant to all parents, ostensibly aimed at increasing fertility rates. It has been constantly criticised on the grounds that it is expensive, inefficient, and doesn't have a clear policy objective. Newspoll survey published in May 2008 showed that 65% of voters favoured means testing of the Baby Bonus. Ix

The Baby Bonus has evolved to offset lost income while on unpaid maternity leave. FaHCSIA's 2008–09 Budget Statement says that the Baby Bonus 'recognises the extra costs associated with birth or adoption of a child, including the loss of income while on unpaid maternity leave.'x It seems likely the government intends the Baby Bonus to evolve into paid maternity leave.

The introduction of a universal (or near-universal) taxpayer-funded maternity leave scheme will not fix the problems with the Baby Bonus. Even if maternity leave is paid through the employer, if it is funded by the taxpayer it will essentially involve abolishing one cash payment to create another in its place.

If paid maternity leave is targeted at households earning less than \$75,000 in the first six months after the baby's birth, as the Baby Bonus will be from 2009, it will still be paid to 97% of families.xi Clear

policy objectives will need to be established: is the payment designed to recognise the costs associated with the birth of a child, or to provide a safety net for low-income families?

Neutrality between working and non-working mothers

Family policy should be based on the principle of neutrality. Parents should be free to choose whether both parents work, or one parent stays at home (whether permanently or for a period of time). Directing benefits at working mothers increases the opportunity cost of taking longer periods of time out of the workforce, and implicitly favours two-earner households.

Sociologist Catherine Hakim argues that many women work only out of financial necessity, and would prefer to stay at home if given the choice.xii This is confirmed by a recent survey of Australian parents, which finds that two in three would stay home to look after their children if they could afford it.xiii

All family benefits should be directed at all families equally, whether one or both parents are in the workforce. Taxpayer-funded benefits are designed to recognise the cost of children and reward parents for their care work. One group should not be rewarded over another.

If any taxpayer-funded maternity leave scheme is introduced, it should be available to all mothers, and not tied to work requirements.

International comparisons

The often-quoted statistic that Australia is one of only two countries in the OECD without paid maternity leave ignores the wider picture. Australia's total spending on family benefits is well above the OECD average. Australia already has the second largest spending on cash benefits to families (as a percentage of GDP) in the OECD, after Luxembourg.xiv

Most OECD countries fund paid maternity leave through social insurance schemes, not from general revenue. Rather than paid maternity leave being a universal welfare payment, individuals draw a benefit based on their past contributions. Social insurance schemes fund paid

maternity leave in countries such as Canada, Finland, France, Italy, and the Netherlands.**

Because of their contributory nature, these schemes are able to provide generous periods of maternity, paternity, and parental leave at near wage replacement. Using general revenue to fund such generous schemes would be inappropriate, and would actually be regressive if payments were linked to income.

Employer contributions

Of women who took maternity leave in 2005, 37% used paid maternity leave provided by their employer.xvi Introducing taxpayer-funded leave would discourage employers from providing paid maternity leave, leading to deadweight losses in the economy.xvii

Paid maternity leave should not be funded by compulsory employer contributions or a levy on employers. There are persuasive arguments against compelling employers to contribute to paid maternity leave. Rebecca Edwards found that women who are eligible for employer-funded maternity leave have lower wages than women in comparable jobs that don't have paid maternity leave.xviii While the relationship between wages and employment conditions is complex, this may suggest that universal *employer*-funded maternity leave would push women's wages down and increase the gender wage gap. There is also the possibility that employers will discriminate against women when hiring. Levies imposed on all businesses will ultimately be absorbed by all employees' wages,xix and will increase the cost of doing business.

A significant number of Australian workplaces provide paid maternity leave for their staff. Employers who provide paid maternity leave claim it helps them attract and retain high-calibre staff, boost morale, and reduce absenteeism.^{xx} In a tight labour market, offering extra benefits such as this can give employers an edge over their competitors.

A universal scheme should not exclude employers from providing this type of benefit. It must be assumed that if a taxpayer-funded scheme is introduced, some employers who currently offer paid maternity leave will stop providing it, transferring a cost that is now borne by business to the taxpayer.xxi

Arguments about workforce participation obscure the real objective of family policy: to provide for the health and welfare of children and allow parental choice. If there are demonstrable gains to business and industry from providing paid maternity leave, businesses will choose to do so voluntarily, as many already are.

Cost to taxpayers

The arguments about how to design family policy rest on one central question: how much of the cost should be borne by society as a whole, and how much should be borne by individual parents?

Nancy Folbre argues that children are public as well as private goods, and the community should bear some of the cost involved in raising them.xxii The question is, to what degree?

International experience shows that once paid maternity leave is introduced, it will gradually be lengthened, xxiii meaning that the expense to the taxpayer will greatly increase. If there is agreement that society as a whole should bear some of the cost of children (possibly including lost income when the child is very young), then the limits must be agreed upon. Where does community responsibility end?

While there are positive externalities, having children is fundamentally a personal choice. Parents must bear the ultimate responsibility for their children.

The existing system of family benefits could be largely reworked to fund a 'minimalist' system of paid maternity leave. The current Baby Bonus could be rolled into such a scheme, and would make up much of the cost.

However, any taxpayer-funded scheme will face immediate pressure for it to be lengthened and increased. A limit to taxpayer funding must be set. This raises a second issue: how can longer periods of parental leave be funded?

Alternative funding arrangements for longer periods of parental leave

A self-funded scheme should be developed for longer periods of parental leave. Australians are already used to funding much of the smoothing of their lifetime income through loans, insurance, and savings. HECS, private health insurance, and superannuation are all examples of this.xxiv

The ideas set out here represent a starting point for conceiving a paid maternity leave scheme outside the taxpayer- or employer-funded model.

Savings

Savings accounts are widely accepted as a way for individuals to fund their own social security. In Australia, superannuation accounts are the most common example of this, and the federal government has recently announced the introduction of 'Home Saver Accounts.' Savings schemes exist to fund retirement, health, and education costs and unemployment benefits in countries such as the US, UK, Singapore, and Chile. **xxv*

In a savings scheme, individuals are required to keep their personal account at a minimum balance, which needs to be topped up through future earnings if drawn upon. Alternatively, individuals can choose to save more than the required minimum. Contributions (to a ceiling) are tax-privileged, making saving a more attractive proposition. At retirement, unused savings can be rolled into superannuation.

A savings scheme could be used to fund paid maternity leave. Because individuals are drawing from their own savings, they are afforded a high degree of flexibility. They can choose to maintain their fund at the minimum level, or they could choose to build their savings up to fund a longer period of leave, or a benefit that is closer to income replacement level. Savings accounts could fund both maternity and paternity leave, or even other types of leave such as grandparents' leave, or leave when an older child is sick. XXVI Unused savings could be used to pay for school fees, put towards the purchase of a house, or rolled into superannuation.

An issue with any self-funded scheme is how to distribute risk evenly across genders. Women alone have the responsibility of childbearing, but men are usually higher income earners. So that women alone do not have to bear the cost of their leave, *xvii partners or family members could be allowed to pool funds or transfer funds between their savings accounts, meaning the lower-income partner could access the savings of the higher-earning partner. Transfers such as this have proven successful in Singapore. *xviii Savings accounts could be split between couples in the advent of separation.

Critics of savings schemes argue that they are appropriate for individuals with average or above-average incomes, but are inequitable for persons with lower-than-average income, as they exacerbate lifetime

inequality.xxix However, properly designed savings accounts can provide low-income groups with a 'better instrument for smoothing income over time.'xxx

Matched savings or incentives directed at low-income individuals or families mean that schemes such as this can actually be progressive and can even have flow-on economic benefits if they allow low income people to roll unused funds into the purchase of a house or superannuation.

In Australia, the government already matches savings for low-income individuals who make voluntary contributions to their superannuation. Singapore, the US, and the UK also provide targeted matched savings and incentives to help low-income people fund their own social security.xxxi This could apply to a maternity saving scheme.

The Centre for Independent Studies has previously proposed the establishment of 'Personal Future Funds' for all Australian taxpayers, arguing that the 'Future Fund' be evenly divided into a personal savings account for each Australian, which could form the basis of their own savings to fund their future social security.xxxii A scheme such as this could provide all workers with a base amount in their maternity savings account, which could be built upon.

In Australia, the infrastructure for setting up a savings account system already exists. Paid maternity leave savings accounts could be administered through superannuation providers, xxxiii or even tied in with the government's proposed Home Saver Accounts. xxxiv

Insurance

Social insurance schemes fund maternity leave in many countries including Finland, France, Italy and the Netherlands.xxxv In Canada, for example, paid maternity leave is funded through 'Unemployment Insurance.' Female workers can claim a maternity leave payment for 15 weeks at 55% of their income. Parents are then eligible for another 35 weeks of parental leave, which can be split between them.xxxvi Because the scheme is funded out of workers' contributions, rather than general revenue, it can afford to be quite generous. Combining paid maternity leave with unemployment insurance makes the scheme more equitable for childless and older workers, who are unlikely to draw maternity benefits but may draw unemployment benefits.xxxvii

While this system seems attractive, a government-run scheme of this nature is not necessarily appropriate for Australia. Jackson and Bozic

contend that Australia's welfare system is profoundly different to a social insurance system. *xxxviii* Social insurance programs are also often funded by employer contributions, a marked departure from the way social spending is funded in Australia. *xxxix*

There may be other more appropriate ways of organising paid maternity leave insurance in Australia. In five US states, women can claim paid maternity leave through Temporary Disability Insurance. This type of insurance provides partial wage replacement if an employee sustains an injury outside the workplace that renders them temporarily unable to work, and has been extended to provide income support for employees on maternity leave.xl In California, for example, up to four weeks of partial wage replacement is available before childbirth, and another six weeks after childbirth. Employees can be required to meet the cost of premiums, or employers can choose to pay on their behalf.xli

While Temporary Disability Insurance is compulsory, employers may insure through the state-run scheme or through a private insurer. Insurers must adhere to the minimum standards set out by the state.xlii A key advantage of this type of scheme is that benefits can be paid through the employer, reinforcing the individual's attachment to that workplace.

In Australia, WorkCover is administered in a similar way. WorkCover insurance is compulsory for employers to cover employees' lost wages, medical and legal costs resulting from workplace accidents or injuries. The scheme operates in different ways from state to state, and in several states private insurance companies administer the system. In NSW, private insurers act as 'fund managers.' They must submit a tender to the government to become a WorkCover insurer, and meet the standards set out in the relevant legislation. In which was a similar way. WorkCover insurer, and meet the standards set out in the relevant legislation.

The WorkCover model could be extended to cover paid maternity leave, mirroring the Temporary Disability Insurance model in the US. WorkCover insurance could cover paid maternity leave, or a separate category of insurance based on the WorkCover model could be established. As with the US scheme, benefits could be extended to other types of leave, such as paternity leave, carers' leave, or extended sick leave, to ensure the system is equitable for all workers.

One potential concern with this model is the equity of the scheme if insurers are allowed to charge actuarial premiums related to the risk profile of particular employers or industries.xlv Firms or industries with large numbers of women may face higher premiums and have a disincentive to hire women, and the cost may not be spread fairly across

genders. However, as the US scheme demonstrates, premiums and benefits can be pegged to state-defined thresholds, ensuring that individuals or groups of employees are not discriminated against.xlvi

Another way to insure for paid maternity leave is to introduce voluntary insurance through private providers. Several insurers in Australia already offer income replacement insurance, which covers loss of income due to accident or illness. Premiums are fully tax-deductible.xlvii

This tax-deductibility could be extended to cover insurance for maternity leave. There is, however, a considerable problem of perverse incentive—only those who are likely to become pregnant will insure, pushing the cost of premiums up and the insurers' profitability down.xiviii This system is also quite regressive, as it subsidises individuals in higher tax brackets to a greater degree. In addition, a voluntary insurance scheme may be inequitable by forcing women to bear the cost burden alone and pricing low-income individuals out. A compulsory scheme based on the US Temporary Disability Insurance or the WorkCover model would be a more efficient and fair way of providing maternity leave insurance.

Loans

Another potential approach to self-funding for paid maternity leave is through a loan scheme. 'Mortgage-style' bank loans, where a fixed amount needs to be repaid over the life of the loan at market interest rates, could be used to finance paid maternity leave. 'Alix There are however, several potential problems with this type of loan:

- Family incomes can fluctuate and be difficult to predict when children are young. Parents may be unwilling to take on an inflexible loan that they may have trouble repaying or loan repayments may cause financial stress.¹
- Low-income families who are likely to default will find it difficult to obtain a loan. li
- The loan is made against 'human capital' (future earnings), so there are no assets to guarantee the loan against.lii

Bruce Chapman proposes **HECS-style income-contingent loans as an alternative**. This could work in the same way as the current

HECS system, with repayments deferred until earnings reach a threshold and the annual rate of repayment rising as income increases. liii

Chapman appeared at the Productivity Commission's inquiry into paid maternity leave in May 2008, to argue in favour of income-contingent loans. His scheme proposed to fund maternity leave at minimum wage levels, with parents being required to pay 20% on top of the original loan, with no additional interest. Parents would be required to repay the loan at a rate of 2% of income after their annual income passed \$27,000.

Nicholas Barr argues that income-contingent loans are 'compatible with the benefit principle, the ability to pay principle and the social insurance principle.'Iv They are fair because they are ultimately self-funded: while all taxpayers are forced to pay for a government-funded paid maternity leave scheme, individuals can opt in or out of an income-contingent loan. They are also more equitable than mortgage-style loans because they enable low-income families to participate.

Julia Perry is critical of Chapman's proposal on the basis that women alone will bear the cost of paid maternity leave. Ivi To address this concern, the scheme would need to be designed so that the burden of repayments falls on both parents. Ivii Parents could even opt for the higher-earning partner to take on the whole debt. If a partnership breaks down, outstanding loan amounts would need to be taken into account when calculating child support payments.

Summary of recommendations

- The key objectives of family policy should be the health and welfare of children, parental choice, horizontal equity between families with children and those without, and benefit and concession neutrality between parents in paid work and those at home.
- The community should help parents meet some of the costs of having children. Where possible, this should be achieved through the tax system.
- If a taxpayer-funded maternity leave scheme is considered, certain requirements need to be met:
 - All family benefits should be directed at all families equally, whether one or both parents are in the workforce.
 - If any taxpayer-funded maternity leave scheme is introduced it should be available to all mothers, and not tied to work requirements.
 - Paid maternity leave should not be funded by compulsory employer contributions or a levy on employers.
 - A limit to taxpayer funding must be set. This raises a second issue: how can longer periods of parental leave be funded?
- A self-funded scheme should be developed for longer periods of parental leave.
- A savings scheme could be used to fund paid maternity leave.
- Partners or family members could be allowed to pool funds or transfer funds between their savings accounts.

- Matched savings or incentives directed at low-income individuals or families mean that schemes such as this can actually be progressive.
- In five US states, women can claim paid maternity leave through Temporary Disability Insurance.
- The WorkCover model could be extended to cover paid maternity leave.
- Another way to insure for paid maternity leave is to introduce voluntary insurance through private providers.
- 'Mortgage-style' bank loans, where a fixed amount needs to be repaid over the life of the loan at market interest rates, could be used to finance paid maternity leave.
- HECS-style income-contingent loans are an alternative.
- The scheme would need to be designed so that the burden of repayments falls on both parents.

Endnotes

- ¹ Lucy Sullivan, *Taxing the Family: Australia's Forgotten People in the Income Spectrum*, CIS Policy Monograph 50 (Sydney: CIS, 2001).
- ii Barry Maley, *Families, Fertility and Maternity Leave* (Sydney: CIS, 2002). iii As above.
- ^{iv} Peter Saunders (ed.), *Taxploitation: The Case for Income Tax Reform* (Sydney: CIS, 2006).
- v See, for example: '14 Weeks Maternity Leave "Wouldn't Hurt",' *The Daily Telegraph* (30 March 2008); 'Unions Fight Rudd on Paid Maternity,' *The Daily Telegraph* (1 April 2008); 'Calls Grow for Maternity Leave,' *The Australian* (31 March 2008); 'Paid Maternity Leave "Urgent",' *The Australian Financial Review* (23 April 2008); and Kate Benson, 'Unions Press for More Paid Leave to Breastfeed,' *The Sydney*
- Morning Herald (10 March 2008); Elizabeth Broderick, Sharan Burrow, and Heather Ridout, 'Maternity Scheme Is Overdue,' The Age (8 April 2008).
- vi See, for example: 'Rudd Defends Baby Bonus Means Test,' *The Age* (14 May 2008); and Stephanie Peatling, 'Cut-off at \$150,000 for Baby Bonus,' *Sydney Morning Herald* (14 May 2008); Lenore Taylor, 'No Regrets over Targeting Rich,' *The Australian* (7 May 2008); Michelle Grattan, Katharine Murphy, and Tim Colebatch, 'Budget to Target Benefits for the Well-off,' *The Age* (8 May 2008); Stephen Lunn and Lauren Wilson, 'Time to Rethink Baby Bonus,' *The Australian* (14 March 2008); Michelle Grattan, 'Have the Haves Had It Too Good?' *The Age* (9 May 2008).
- vii Ross Guest, 'The Baby Bonus: A Dubious Policy Initative,' *Policy* 23:1 (Autumn 2007), 11–15.
- viii Australian Council of Social Service (ACOSS), 'Budget Waste and Well-off Welfare,' (Sydney: ACOSS, 2003).
- $^{\rm ix}$ George Megalogenis, 'Strong Support to Deny the Rich,' *The Australian* (12 May 2008).
- ^x Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs. 'Portfolio Budget Statements 2008–09—Agency Resources and Planned Performance,' www.fahcsia.gov.au/internet/facsinternet.nsf/aboutfacs/budget/budget2008-08_pbs.htm, 88.
- xi George Megalogenis, 'Wealthy Hit by a Double Whammy,' *The Australian* (15 May 2008).
- xii Catherine Hakim, *Work-lifestyle Choices in the 21st Century: Preference Theory* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2000).
- xiii BankWest, 'Media Release: Two in Three Parents Would Ditch Their Career to Stay Home with the Kids If They Could Afford It' (25 March 2008),
- $www.bankwest.com.au/Media_Centre/Media_Releases/Media_Releases_2008/Two_in_three_parents_would_ditch_their_career_to_stay_home_with_the_kids_if_t-hey_could_afford_it/index.aspx.$

xiv OECD, 'OECD Family Database,'

- www.oecd.org/document/4/0,3343,en_2649_34819_37836996_1_1_1_1,00.html. ^{xv} OECD, 'Babies and Bosses: Reconciling Work and Family Life—A Synthesis of Findings for OECD Countries' (Paris: OECD, 2007), 213.
- xvi Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), 'Australian Social Trends, 2007—Maternity Leave Arrangements,' ABS Cat. No. 4102.0,
- $www.abs.gov. au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Latest products/F1C08F3A539FED51CA2573\ 2C00207DE0? open document.$
- xvii Lawrence H. Summers, 'Some Simple Economics of Mandated Benefits,' *The American Economic Review* 79:2 (1989), 177.
- xviii Rebecca Edwards, 'Maternity Leave and the Evidence for Compensating Wage Differentials in Australia,' *Economic Record* 82:258 (2006), 281–297.
- xix Benjamin D. Sommers 'Who Really Pays for Health Insurance? The Incidence of Employer-Provided Health Insurance with Sticky Nominal Wages,' *International Journal of Health Care Finance and Economics* 5:1 (2005), 89.
- xx Sara Charlesworth, 'Paid Maternity Leave in "Best Practice" Organisations: Introduction, Implementation, and Organisational Context [Paper in Special Issue: Taking Care: Work and Family Policy Issues for Australia],' *Australian Bulletin of Labour* 33:2 (2007), 158–179.
- xxi Peter McDonald, 'Reforming Family Support Policy in Australia,' *People and Place* 11:2 (2003), 1–15.
- xxii Nancy Folbre, 'Children as Public Goods,' *The American Economic Review* 84:2, 86.
- xxiii Christopher J. Ruhm, 'The Economic Consequences of Parental Leave Mandates: Lessons from Europe,' *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 113:1 (1998), 285(33).
- xxiv Peter Saunders, *Restoring Self-Reliance in Welfare: Twenty Million Future Funds* (Sydney: CIS, 2005).
- xxv James H. Smalhout, 'Benefit Design Choices for Personal Social Security Accounts,' *Benefits Quarterly* 18:2 (2002), 44; Arthur D. Postal, 'Catastrophe Savings Accounts Proposed for U.S. Homeowners,' *National Underwriter P&C* 111:14 (2007), 7;
- A. Lans Bovenberg and Peter Birch Sørensen, 'Improving the Equity-efficiency Trade-off: Mandatory Savings Accounts for Social Insurance,' *International Tax and Public Finance* 11:4 (2004), 507; James H. Cardon and Mark H. Showalterr, 'Insurance Choice and Tax-preferred Health Savings Accounts,' *Journal of Health Economics* 26:2 (2007), 373.
- xxvi A similar scheme has been proposed in the Netherlands. Aart Jan de Geus, 'Netherlands: Welfare to Strengthen the Economy,' *The OECD Observer* 248 (2005), 15. xxvii For a discussion on problems women face in funding their own welfare due to lower lifetime earnings, see Sophie M. Korczyk, 'Women's Issues in Individual Social Security Accounts: Chile, Australia, and the United Kingdom,' *Benefits Quarterly* 21:3 (2005), 37.
- xxviii Michael Sherraden, 'Individual Accounts in Social Security: Can They Be Progressive?' *International Journal of Social Welfare* 12:2 (2003), 97–107.
- xxix Julia Perry, 'Alternative Sources of Welfare,' *Australian Bulletin of Labour* 32:3 (2006), 280–294; Patrick Dattalo, 'Borrowing to Save: A Critique of Recent Proposals to Partially Privatize Social Security,' *Social Work* 52:3 (2007), 233; Michael D. Barr, 'Medical Savings Accounts in Singapore: A Critical Inquiry,' *Journal of Health Politics, Policy, and Law* 26:4 (2001), 709.
- xxx Stefan Folser, 'Social Insurance Based on Personal Savings,' *Economic Record* 75: 228 (1999), 5.
- xxxi Michael Sherraden, 'Individual Accounts in Social Security.'

xxxiii Peter Saunders, Restoring Self-Reliance in Welfare. In the 2008–09 budget, the federal government announced that it would create three separate funds, worth \$40 billion: Commonwealth of Australia, '2008–09 Commonwealth Budget—Overview,' www.budget.gov.au/2008-09/content/overview/html/overview_01.htm. As this spending is not earmarked, it could also be used to set up 'Personal Future Funds.' xxxiii For more information about how superannuation works, see Australian Security and Investment Commission's 'FIDO' website at www.fido.gov.au.

xxxiv For more information on the recently introduced Home Saver Accounts, see the federal Treasury's website on the program, homesaver.treasury.gov.au

xxxv Isaac M. Rubinow, Social Insurance (New York: Arno, 1969).

xxxvi Service Canada, 'Employment Insurance (EI) and Maternity, Parental and Sickness Benefits,' www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ei/types/special.shtml.

xxxvii Linda A. White, 'Institutions, Constitutions, Actor Strategies, and Ideas: Explaining Variation in Paid Parental Leave Policies in Canada and the United States,'

International Journal of Constitutional Law 4:2 (2006), 319–346.

xxxviii Lance Jackson and Suzanne Bozic, 'The Australian Social Security Model: Revisiting the International Debate,' *Social Security Journal* (September 1997), 32–55.

xxxix T. Eardley, 'Tax and Social Security Policies Towards Families: Australia Compared with Countries of the European Union,' in proceedings of the Australian Family Research Conference, Brisbane, 1996.

xl Lisa Guerin and Deborah England, *The Essential Guide to Family and Medical Leave* (Berkeley: Nolo, 2007).

xli Employment Development Department, State of California, 'Disability Insurance,' www.edd.ca.gov/direp/diind.htm;

xlii Ellen Mutari and Deborah M. Figart, *Women and the Economy: A Reader* (New York: M.E Sharpe, 2003).

xliii Information on various state schemes is available at www.workcover.nsw.gov.au, www.workcover.vic.gov.au, www.workcover.qld.gov.au, and www.workcover.wa.gov.au.

xliv Grahame Burton, 'Workers' Compensation in Australia: With Specific Focus on NSW,' *Journal (Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance)* 28:5 (2005), 14–19.

xlv In the WorkCover scheme, premiums are charged based on the risk profile of the industry as well as being linked to actual workplace injuries. This system is designed to encourage employers to improve workplace safety. Kevin Purse, 'Workers Compensation Policy in Australia: Best Practice or Lowest Common Denominator?' *Journal of Industrial Relations* 40:2 (1998), 179–203. If this system were applied to paid maternity leave, it would have the effect of encouraging employers to decrease pregnancies among staff, leading to discrimination against the hiring of female employees.

xlvi For an analysis of how the Californian parental leave system is based on the premise of equality, see Dirk Larsen, 'The German Parental-leave System as a Model for California: Creating a Race to the Top within a Federal System,' *Hastings International and Comparative Law Review* 29:1 (2005), 71–91.

xlvii Australian Tax Office, 'Sickness and Accident Insurance,'

www.ato.gov.au/individuals/content.asp?doc=/content/19669.htm.

xlviii Gerald P. Koocher and Patricia Keith-Spiegel, *Ethics in Psychology: Professional Standards and Cases*, 3rd ed. (New York: Oxford University Press, 2008), 173.

xlix Nicholas Barr, *The Welfare State as Piggy Bank: Information, Risk, Uncertainty and the Role of the State* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001).

Deborah Ralston and April Wright, 'Lending Procedures and the Viability–Social Objectives Conflict in Credit Unions,' *The International Journal of Bank Marketing* 21:6/7 (2003), 304.

^{li} Bruce Chapman, 'Conceptual Issues and the Australian Experience with Income Contingent Charges for Higher Education.' *The Economic Journal* 107:442 (1997): 738-51.

lii Linda Courtenay Botterill and Bruce Chapman. 'An Income-related Loans Proposal for Drought Relief for Farm Businesses,' *Australian Journal of Public Administration* 63:3 (2004): 10-19.

liii Chapman, Bruce. 'Conceptual Issues and the Australian Experience with Income Contingent Charges for Higher Education.'

liv Steven Scott, 'HECS-style Loan Proposed to Fund Maternity Leave,' *The Australian Financial Review* (8 May 2008); Misha Schubert, 'Aim High on Baby Leave, Women Told,' *The Age* (8 May 2008); Paul Kerin, 'We Decided to Have Kids—And Pay,' *The Australian* (22 April 2008).

^{Iv} Nicholas Barr, *The Welfare State as Piggy Bank: Information, Risk, Uncertainty and the Role of the State* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001), 187.

lvi Julia Perry, 'Alternative Sources of Welfare.'

lvii For a further critique of this see Joshua S. Gans, *Return to Work Credits: Ideas for Efficient and Equitable Parental Leave Following Child-birth*, Melbourne Business School Centre for Ideas and the Economy IdeaPITCH 2,

www.pc.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/79678/sub024.pdf.

The Centre for Independent Studies (CIS)

The Centre for Independent Studies is the leading independent public policy think tank in Australasia. Founded in 1976, our work is informed by a commitment to the principles underpinning a free and open society:

- individual liberty and choice, including freedom of association, religion, speech and the right to property
- · an economy based on free markets
- democratic government under the rule of law
- an autonomous and free civil society

The CIS works on aspects of social and economic policy affecting both Australia and New Zealand. The Centre prides itself on being independent and non-partisan in its funding and research. It is funded by donations from individuals, companies, and charitable trusts, as well as by subscriptions and book sales.

'Independent' in our name means:

- we are politically non-partisan
- our research is not directed by our supporters
- we are financially independent of government